IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY LAYNE ROGERS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

<u>Appellee</u>.

Case No. 91,044

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for St. John's County, Florida

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A MOTION TO VACATE SET ASIDE OR CORRECT SENTENCE PURSUANT TO FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.850

John G. Buchanan, III
Timothy C. Hester
Benedict M. Lenhart
Michael S. Labson
Andrew J. Heimert
COVINGTON & BURLING
1201 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20044
(202) 662-6000

Jerrel Phillips
P.O. Box 14463
Twin Towers Bldg.
2600 Blair Stone Rd.
Tallahassee, Florida 32339
(904) 942-5264
Fla. Bar # 0878219

INTRODUCTION

Jerry Layne Rogers was tried as Thomas McDermid's accomplice in the murder of a Winn-Dixie store employee during an attempted robbery in St. Augustine, Florida, in 1982.

Proceeding without counsel, and based principally on McDermid's self-interested testimony, Rogers was convicted and sentenced to death. Rogers is entitled to a new trial in this case because of fundamental violations of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

In clear violation of <u>Brady</u>, the State failed to provide Rogers with exculpatory evidence indicating that George William ("Billy") Cope was McDermid's accomplice in the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder. In particular, the State failed to disclose two documents that, by themselves, would have altered the course of the trial: a statement by Cope that he planned to commit the Winn-Dixie robbery, and a later statement by a confidential informant who had heard Cope admit his involvement in the Winn-Dixie murder. The State also failed to turn over reams of documents establishing that Cope and McDermid were long-time robbery partners.

The State also failed to provide dozens of documents demonstrating that McDermid lied about critical aspects of the Winn-Dixie murder and other robberies in which he had implicated Rogers. Rogers could have used these documents to destroy the credibility of McDermid, by far the most important of the State's witnesses. The failure to produce materials that identified another participant in the robbery-murder, or

that would have impeached the testimony of the State's key witness, was a fundamental violation of the State's constitutional obligations under Brady.

Furthermore, Rogers has recently discovered new evidence that independently establishes that Cope was McDermid's accomplice in the Winn-Dixie attempted robbery and murder. Two witnesses have recently provided testimony implicating Cope as McDermid's accomplice in the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Rogers was convicted of the Winn-Dixie murder and sentenced to death by a St. Augustine jury in October 1984.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction and sentence, although it rejected three of the five aggravating factors found by the jury in support of the death sentence.

Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987). The United States Supreme Court denied Rogers's petition for certiorari.

Rogers v. Florida, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988).

In 1990, the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative ("CCR") began an investigation into Rogers's conviction. Pursuant to Fla. Code Chapter 119, CCR requested numerous records from Florida police departments and other State agencies related to Rogers's case. The records obtained revealed that the State had in its possession at and before the time of trial a large body of exculpatory evidence

favorable to Rogers -- evidence that the State withheld from Rogers despite two pre-trial requests for the production of all exculpatory evidence. R.O.A. 4275 (Tr. 85-86).

Citing the exculpatory evidence produced by the State in response to CCR's Chapter 119 requests, in 1991 Rogers, represented by CCR, filed a motion to vacate his conviction and sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. The Circuit Court denied the Rule 3.850 motion, but this Court reversed and remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing, on the basis that the trial judge had erred in denying CCR's motion for recusal. Rogers v. State, 630 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 1993).

On remand, the Circuit Court, Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for St. John's County (Nichols, J.), held a hearing on Rogers's 3.850 motion. After five days of testimony, the court admitted all exhibits offered by Rogers as proof that the State had failed to disclose exculpatory evidence in its possession, as required under Brady v.

Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Following the hearing, the court issued a written decision denying Rogers's claims on the merits. State v. Rogers, No. CF-83-1440 (Fla. 7th Cir. Ct. June 20, 1997) (Slip Op.) (Appendix A).

Rogers filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court. This Court has jurisdiction over an appeal from the

denial of a Rule 3.850 motion in a death penalty case pursuant to Art. V, Section 3(b)(1), of the Florida Constitution. $\frac{1}{2}$

The State's Case

The evidence at trial established that two men armed with guns had sought to rob a Winn-Dixie grocery store in St. Augustine on the night of January 4, 1982. Both men were wearing stocking masks. One of the men confronted the cashier, Ketsy Day Suppinger, and demanded that she hand over money from the cash register. The other man went to the store office area. Trial Tr. 6213.2 When Ms. Suppinger was unable to open the register drawer, the robbers fled without taking any money. They were pursued outside by Mr. Smith. One of the robbers confronted and fatally shot Mr. Smith.

Eyewitnesses saw McDermid running from the Winn Dixie parking lot seconds after the shooting with "one hand in his jacket."

Trial Tr. 7381-83, 7419-24. McDermid was then observed entering the getaway car, by himself, and driving away. Trial

Rogers represented himself at trial. Aside from the claims raised on this appeal, in 1996 Rogers filed in this Court an original petition for writ of habeas corpus, which alleged that Rogers was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel on direct appeal. The habeas corpus petition argued that Rogers was permitted to proceed pro se in violation of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111 and the standards enunciated in Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), and that his lawyer's failure to raise these arguments on direct appeal deprived Rogers of his right to the effective assistance of counsel. This Court denied the habeas corpus petition. Rogers v. Singletary, 698 So. 2d 1178 (1997).

^{2/} Citations to the trial transcript ("Trial Tr.") refer to the page of the Record on Appeal filed with this Court on Rogers's direct appeal.

Tr. 7424-26. Other than McDermid, no witness testified as to the actions of the second robber after leaving the Winn Dixie.

The State's case at trial rested chiefly, if not entirely, on the testimony of Thomas McDermid, who admitted to being one of the Winn-Dixie robbers. The State obtained McDermid's testimony through an exceptionally generous plea bargain. Before trial, McDermid had confessed to the Winn-Dixie robbery-murder as well as over thirty other armed robberies and more than a dozen other miscellaneous crimes. McDermid eventually claimed that Rogers had committed roughly 35 robberies with him, including the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder. A.O.A. 341-49. In exchange for McDermid's cooperation against Rogers, the State offered the following terms: no prosecution for the Winn-Dixie murder and a total of 20 years for all other crimes, with a mandatory term of only 6 years.

Before McDermid accused him of participating in a series of armed robberies, Rogers had never been arrested and indeed had never been accused of a crime. McDermid was then called on by the State to be the key witness against Rogers in several different prosecutions for armed robbery. Two of those prior convictions, based on McDermid's testimony, were then used as substantive evidence to support McDermid's accusations of Rogers in the Winn-Dixie case at issue here. Thus, the State built a series of prosecutions of Rogers largely if not entirely on the testimony of a single, self-interested witness who stood to gain enormously through his testimony against Rogers. Newly developed evidence, discussed below, pp. 41-43, strongly suggests that McDermid deliberately undertook to "set up" Rogers to protect George Cope and others who had assisted him in this series of robberies, who might otherwise have identified McDermid as the shooter in the Winn-Dixie murder.

McDermid was released from prison on March 21, 1990, after (continued...)

Without McDermid's testimony, the State could not have convicted Rogers. At trial, McDermid was the sole source of the most damaging testimony against Rogers. McDermid alone testified that Rogers had shot the Winn-Dixie manager. McDermid was the only witness who testified about the shooting. McDermid alone placed the murder weapon in Rogers's hands. McDermid alone testified about many of the details of the Winn-Dixie robbery -- including how he and (allegedly) Rogers travelled to St. Augustine, prepared for the robbery, and fled the scene after the crime. McDermid alone claimed that Rogers had admitted to the shooting. Indeed, except for the flawed testimony of Ms. Suppinger, the cashier, only McDermid testified that Rogers was anywhere near St. Augustine on the day of the crime.

At trial, Ms. Suppinger purported to identify Rogers as one of the men who had robbed the Winn-Dixie store. But her identification of Rogers was so fraught with inconsistencies that even the State conceded in closing argument that Ms. Suppinger was confused and mistaken about the bulk of her testimony. Trial Tr. 8092.

 $[\]frac{4}{2}$ (...continued) having served a term of approximately 8 years.

For more than a year prior to the Winn Dixie robbery, McDermid had worked for Rogers in the carpentry business. However, Rogers eventually fired McDermid due to gross misconduct on the job, and afterwards their relationship became bitter and hostile. Trial Tr. 7743, 7746, 7750, 7752-53.

Ms. Suppinger testified that the robber who confronted her at the register was about 5'8" tall and had irregular teeth, which were noticeable even through the robber's mask. Trial Tr. 6224, 6250. She testified that the second robber was noticeably taller than the "buck-toothed" robber. McDermid is 5'8" tall and has prominent buck teeth. $\frac{6}{}$ Rogers, who is 5'4", is significantly shorter. R.O.A. 4275 (Tr. 120).²/ Thus, Ms. Suppinger's descriptions of the robbers placed McDermid as the robber who confronted her at the cash register. Indeed, McDermid himself testified that he, not Rogers, confronted Ms. Suppinger at the cash register. Trial Tr. 6538-39. However, at trial, Ms. Suppinger identified Rogers as the person who had confronted her during the robbery. Faced with these contradictions, it is not surprising that the State conceded in closing argument that much of Ms. Suppinger's testimony was "probably mistaken." Trial Tr. $8092.\frac{8}{}$

^{6/} McDermid's State-prepared post-sentence investigation states that he is 5'8". R.O.A. 2703. McDermid testified at trial that he was "called Bugs Bunny" in school. Trial Tr. 6589.

The Record on Appeal does not provide pagination for each specific page of the Rule 3.850 Hearing transcript. The citations to the Record on Appeal that refer to the Hearing transcript note in parentheses the page of the Hearing transcript on which the referenced testimony appears.

Ms. Suppinger's testimony has further problems. When shown a photo of Rogers soon after the robbery, she stated that she did not recognize him. Trial Tr. 6251, 6279, 6288-89. It was only months later -- following a deposition in which Rogers was identified by the State Attorney in the presence of Ms. Suppinger -- that Ms. Suppinger claimed for the first time that she could (continued...)

The Defense Case at Trial

The overarching theory of Rogers's defense was that he had been misidentified as McDermid's partner and that, in fact, someone other than Rogers was the true accomplice.

However, Rogers could not develop this defense effectively at trial because he lacked any evidence pointing the jury to the true culprit: the State withheld evidence that specifically implicated "Billy" Cope as McDermid's accomplice in the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder, and never gave Rogers the information by which he could have developed the facts to show that Cope had actually committed this crime. Rogers was never told about Cope, a long-time accomplice of McDermid's in many crimes.

At trial, Rogers presented an alibi defense. Several witnesses placed him at a family cook-out in Orlando on the night of the Winn-Dixie robbery and killing. Later that same night, he was at a hospital in Orlando (about 100 miles from St. Augustine, Trial Tr. 6633), taking care of his sick daughter.

Rogers presented evidence at trial based on the police reports following the Winn-Dixie shooting. All of those reports, including the official "Be on the Lookout" ("BOLO") report, identified a 5'8" buck-toothed robber (McDermid) and a second robber who actually was several inches

 $[\]frac{8}{1}$ (...continued) identify Rogers as one of the robbers. Trial Tr. 6337-38.

taller. R.O.A. 392. Rogers argued to the jury that he -- at 5'4" -- could not possibly fit the description of the second robber. But Rogers was not provided with the exculpatory evidence from the police files that would have allowed him to identify for the jury a suspect who fit the physical description of the second robber.

EVIDENCE WITHHELD FROM THE DEFENSE AT TRIAL

The physical descriptions of the two Winn-Dixie robbers indicated that the buck-toothed McDermid, at 5'8" in height, was the shorter of the two robbers, and that his accomplice was several inches taller. The State had in its possession evidence that directly implicated George William ("Billy") Cope in the robbery and murder. Cope's height is 6'0", and thus (unlike the 5'4" Rogers) perfectly matched the physical description of the second robber. R.O.A. 2418; R.O.A. 4281 (Tr. 805-10). Specifically, the State withheld evidence from the defense that Cope had twice confessed his involvement in the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder. The State also withheld evidence that Cope has been arrested as McDermid's partner in two other robberies with an identical modus operandi, and that Cope had been implicated as McDermid's partner in numerous other robberies. This was, in short, exculpatory evidence that fit together precisely with the physical evidence and with the defense's theory that

someone other than Rogers had been McDermid's accomplice in the Winn-Dixie crimes. $\frac{9}{}$

Aside from the evidence that identified and implicated another participant in the robbery and murder, the State also withheld evidence that would have impeached the testimony of McDermid, its critical witness. And the State also withheld evidence that would have called into question the credibility of other key prosecution witnesses. 10/

A. <u>Evidence That Implicated George Cope</u>

Police Records -- Pantry Pride Robbery, Jacksonville

The Pantry Pride restaurant in Jacksonville was robbed on December 9, 1981 by two men. McDermid claimed that he and Rogers committed this robbery. The Pantry Pride police reports contradict McDermid's assertion, since they identify Cope as a primary suspect in that robbery. But more importantly, those records specifically identify Cope as a possible suspect in the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder. The reports contain the following statement:

At the time of Rogers's evidentiary hearing, Cope was wanted on an outstanding warrant and was a fugitive from justice. Despite a substantial investigation, Rogers was unable to locate Cope in order to present him at the Rule 3.850 hearing. R.O.A. 4283 (Tr. 1166). The State has also failed to locate and arrest Cope on the outstanding warrant. R.O.A. 4283 (Tr. 1167-68).

 $[\]frac{10}{}$ All of the police records and other documentary materials discussed below were submitted by Rogers in support of his Rule 3.850 motion. The trial court admitted all of these records during the evidentiary hearing on the Rule 3.850 motion. R.O.A. 4283 (Tr. 1249-59).

The 2nd lead in this case is information developed at the Beaches area on suspects named: George William Cope (WM, DOB: 1/11/57), Carolyn Woods (BF, DOB: 5/11/46), and Dennis L. Herrmann (WM). A confidential informant reported that he overheard a conversation with these subjects in a bar at the Beaches area that they were possibly involved or he was led to believe that they may have been involved in the robbery/murder of the Winn-Dixie manager in Augustine, Florida that occurred after this robbery occurred. The subject forwarded the name of Billie Cope to this office.

. . . .

The writer requested records on all these people from the Ohio police and instead of sending them to me, they sent them to Sqt.

Nicklo in St. Augustine, Florida, who is working the robbery/murder there [i.e., Winn-Dixie]. The writer is still trying to get this information from the Ohio police or Sqt.

Nicklo, but as of this date, has been unsuccessful in getting it.

R.O.A. 360-61 (emphasis added); see also R.O.A. 4275 (Tr. 140-42); R.O.A. 4275 (Tr. 114-15).

These police records thus directly support Rogers's principal defense that someone else was McDermid's accomplice in the Winn-Dixie robbery-murder. The records reflect that the police had focused on Cope as a prime suspect in the Winn-Dixie case, since records about Cope had been forwarded to the police investigator "working the robbery murder" of a Winn-Dixie. Moreover, these records indicate that Cope had been overheard in a conversation indicating that he had "been involved in the robbery/murder of the Winn-Dixie manager."

In addition, these Pantry Pride reports buttress the testimony of the newly discovered witnesses, <u>see</u> pp. 41-43,

<u>infra</u>, describing the friendship between Cope and McDermid, and detailing their criminal activities together.

These Pantry Pride reports also verify that the St. Augustine police department (the department responsible for investigating the Winn-Dixie crimes) was well aware of the suspicions surrounding Cope. The reports indicate that Sergeant Nicklo, who played a critical role in investigating the Winn-Dixie case, received the criminal information about Cope from Ohio.

2. Police Records -- Duval County

Rogers did not know of Cope, and had never heard his name, until Cope's name appeared in documents secured by CCR's Chapter 119 requests years after Rogers's trial. R.O.A. 4278 (Tr. 464-65). In response to one such Chapter 119 demand, Rogers received over one hundred pages of investigative materials on Cope, from the Duval County sheriff's office, dating from the period of the Winn-Dixie investigation. These records further demonstrate that Cope was a prime suspect in the Winn-Dixie crimes and other robberies committed by McDermid.

(1) Two pages of undated, handwritten notes from the Duval County police records contain the following notation:

Billy Cope (George William Cope) 5'8" - 24 - 165 - Brn. Brn.

CI [Confidential Informant] says he was with Cope and another when they were talking about 23 & 5, going to do.

R.O.A. 502 (emphasis added); see also R.O.A. 4275 (Tr. 140-41). 11/2 Specifically, these police reports discuss Cope's expressed intent "to do" two specific crimes, written in police shorthand ("23 & 5"). R.O.A. 502. This shorthand --particularly the number "5" -- corresponds to the shorthand used in another section of the same notes to denote the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder. R.O.A. 496.

The meaning of these reports is clear: Cope and "another" were overheard talking about certain robberies. In fact, one of the robberies that Cope was "going to do" was the Winn-Dixie. This information would have greatly bolstered Rogers's defense that he was not McDermid's accomplice.

(2) The same Duval County police records contain yet another link between Cope and the Winn-Dixie case. On the page immediately following the note about Cope's planning of the robberies, there appears a list of the names and descriptions of Cope, Carolyn Woods (Cope's girlfriend) and Clifton Gray (Wood's brother). Below that list, Cope's name is repeated, and then there appears the notation "Don Blakle, Winn-Dixie Sy." R.O.A. 503. Bob Blakely -- a Winn-Dixie supervisor -- was the key contact person with the police

Police reports variously describe Cope as between 5'8" and 6'. Cope's official Florida Law Enforcement Record ("FLER") describes him as 6' tall. R.O.A. 2418. The State does not dispute the FLER description. R.O.A. 4281 (Tr. 809-10).

concerning the Winn-Dixie robbery-murder. <u>See</u> R.O.A. 709-16. These notes thus reflect a clear linkage in the police records between Cope and the Winn-Dixie robbery and murder.

(3) A six-page set of investigative notes is also contained within these Duval County police records. On page three appears the following notation:

Seminole Co. - Publix 11 Jan. 82 - 7:30 PM, Cope, blond-male

R.O.A. 519. Two pages later in the same set of notes, there appears the following notation:

R.O.A. 521.

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