IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JERRY LAYNE ROGERS,

Appellant,

v.

Case #: 91,044

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. JOHN'S COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK S. DUNN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0471852

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-4850

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Rogers' sole claim on appeal involves alleged *Brady* evidence. First, the claim is procedurally time barred. Second, what the trial court referred to as "the lion's share of documents presented by" Rogers was inadmissible hearsay. If these documents could not have been admitted at trial or were inadmissible at retrial, there is no reasonable probality the outcome of Rogers' trial would have been different even if the evidence had been provided to the defense.

On the merits, Rogers fails all four prongs of the test established in *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). First, a vast amount of the evidence, besides being inadmissible, was immaterial and not exculpatory. Second, Rogers did not exercise reasonable diligence in obtaining the evidence. Third, the materials were equally accessible to him as well as the State. Finally, there was not a reasonable probability that the outcome of Rogers' trial would have been different. As the trial court found: "Basically, the sum of the 'maybe's' and 'what-if's' is not greater that the sum of the jury's verdict and the propriety thereof."

ARGUMENT

ROGERS RECEIVED A FAIR TRIAL AND COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS AS TO ALLEGED *BRADY* EVIDENCE.²⁶

I. PROCEDURAL BAR

§ 924.051 Fla. Stat. (1997) reads in pertinent part:

(8) It is the intent of the Legislature that all terms and conditions of direct appeal and collateral review be strictly enforced, including the application of procedural bars, to ensure that all claims of error are raised and resolved at the first opportunity. It is also the Legislature's intent that all procedural bars to direct appeal and collateral review be fully enforced by the courts of this state.

In this cause, the trial court found:

Second, the State argued that the claims contained in the [August 15], 1996 motion are new claims, not related to the claims of August 25, 1990, and therefore, are procedurally barred as they come well outside the two-year time limit prescribed by Rule 3.850. The Defendant responded that the present motion was merely an amendment to the previous, timely filed motion, and thus, did It appears to this Court not violate Rule 3.850. that the State's argument has merit. But, in the light of the evidence presented, this Court thought it more justiciable to rule on the merits of Defendant's motion.

On Tuesday morning, August 20, 1996, Jerrell Phillips, one of

²⁶Rogers' first issue is nothing more than his view of what this Court's standard of review should be in this cause. His only real issue concerns alleged *Brady* material. *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

several attorneys appearing on Rogers' behalf, announced Rogers' intent "to proceed only on the claims that have been filed in the amended motion with one reservation of the *Faretta claim*, the habeas petition which is currently pending in the Florida Supreme Court."²⁷ (XIX/T251) This amended motion was filed on August 15, 1996, four days before the evidentiary hearing (V/758-853). CCR's original "Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend," filed on January 11, 1990, included as its third claim: "The State's withholding of material, exculpatory evidence violated Mr. Rogers' rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments." (PC/438-62)

In CCR's third claim, it acknowledged it had in its possession, subject to Chapter 119, "the state attorney's file in this case in addition to the records of numerous law enforcement agencies within the Seventh Judicial District." (PC/459-62) Therefore, the information which Rogers' used for his August 15, 1996, 3.850 motion, had been available to him since 1990.

Pursuant to Adams v. State, 543 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1989), all post-conviction relief motions filed after June 30, 1989, and based on new facts or a significant change in the law had to be made within two years from the date the facts became known or the change

²⁷Rogers lost the *Faretta* claim. *Rogers III*, 698 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1996)(Ex.C)

was announced.²⁸ See Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So. 2d 313, 316 (Fla.), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 1891 (1993). Given this precedent, and viewing the Adams two-year rule in a light most favorable to Rogers by using February 28, 1990, the date of the filing of his amended motion to vacate, as the starting date, the instant claim was **time barred** on February 22, 1992, over three (3) years before Rogers' present collateral counsel made their appearance.²⁹

However, given Rogers' waiver of all matters raised in CCR's 1990 motions, his *Brady* claim filed in 1996, was well beyond the one-year time limitation for capital cases delineated by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(b).³⁰ See Jones v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S137 (Fla. March 17, 1998); *Mills v. State*, 684 So. 2d 801, 804 (Fla. 1996). Whether utilizing a two-year or a one-year time limitation, the State respectfully submits Rogers' sole issue on appeal is **time**

³⁰The State made this argument below (XX/T543-45).

²⁸Rule 3.850 was amended effective January 1, 1994, to reduce the time from two years to one year for filing a motion for collateral relief after a death sentence has been imposed.

 $^{^{29}}$ CCR filed an amendment to its January 11, 1990, motion, in which it added three additional claims, on February 28, 1990 (PC/36-88).

The time bar argument was made by the State in *Rogers III* as to his petition for a writ of habeas corpus. (Judicial Notice own files.) This Court determined that in 1989 when Rogers filed his initial 3.850 motion, "there was no time limitation for filing writs of habeas corpus," therefore, his petition was not time barred. *Id.* Such is not the case concerning his August 15, 1996, motion, and given his waiver of CCR's motion, the time bar applies.

barred, and pursuant to § 924.051(8), if this Court should address the merits of Rogers' *Brady* claim, the State requests this Court also specifically find Rogers' *Brady* claim is procedurally time barred.

II. ALLEGED BRADY CLAIM

§ 924.051 further relates:

(7) In a direct appeal or a collateral proceeding, the party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. A conviction or sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court.

Rogers has failed to meet this burden both below and in the instant appeal.

As regards appellate review of a trial court's decision, this Court has opined:

In reviewing the trial court's decision, we are mindful that "this Court, as an appellate body, has no authority to substitute its view of the facts for that of the trial judge when competent evidence exists to support the trial judge's conclusion." (citations omitted)

Jones v. State, supra. In this cause, competent substantial evidence supports the trial court's determination regarding alleged Brady material.

This Court, in *Jones*, also provided the standard of review for *Brady* claims. First, the United States Supreme Court held in *Brady*

that:

the *suppression* by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused ... violates due process where the evidence is *material* either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution. 373 U.S. at 87 (emphasis this Court's)

Jones v. State, supra. The test for determining Brady materiality was delineated in United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985):

[E]vidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the different. proceeding would have been Α probability "reasonable probability" is а sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. See also, Gorham v. State, 597 So. 782, 785 (Fla. 1992).

Id. A Brady violation is established by "showing that the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." Id., citing Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 435 (1995).

To gain a reversal based upon Brady, the defendant must prove:

(1) that the Government possessed evidence favorable to the defendant (including impeachment evidence); (2) that the defendant does not possess the evidence nor could he obtain it himself with any reasonable diligence; (3) that the prosecution suppressed the favorable evidence; and (4) that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different.

Id., citing Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 693 (Fla. 1998)(quoting Hegwood v. State, 575 So. 2d 170, 172 (Fla. 1991). Again, as to reasonable diligence, Rogers had to present his Brady claim within one year of the discovery of the new evidence. See Jones, supra; Mills v. State, supra, at 804.

The prosecutor is not required to deliver his entire file to defense counsel, but only to disclose evidence favorable to the accused that, if suppressed, would deprive the defendant of a fair trial. *Bagley*, at 473 U.S. 678, *citing United States v. Agurs*, *supra*. A prosecutor is not constitutionally obligated to obtain information unconnected with or beyond his files for purpose of discovering material that defense can use in impeaching government witnesses. *See*, *Morgan v. Salamack*, 735 F.2d 354, 348 (2d Cir. 1984). Relief is not warranted whenever a combing of the files after trial reveals evidence possibly useful to the defense but unlikely to have changed the verdict. *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972).

The Supreme Court has held that the prosecutor is not constitutionally required to "make a complete and detailed accounting to the defense of all police investigatory work on a case." *Moore v. Illinois*, 408 U.S. 786, 795 (1972); *United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97, 99 (1976). The State has no obligation to

communicate preliminary, challenged, or speculative information. Agurs, 427 U.S. at 109, n.16. A court is not required to ensure a defendant access to all government material in order that he might find something exculpatory; the interests of judicial economy militate against granting such "fishing expeditions" without constitutional basis. United States v. Davis, 752 F.2d 963, 976 (5th Cir. 1985); United States v. Andrus, 775 F.2d 825 (7th Cir. 1985).

Brady does not require the government to create exculpatory evidence. See United States v. Walker, 559 F.2d 365, 373 (5th Cir. 1977); Richard v. Solem, 693 F.2d 760, 766 (8th Cir. 1982). Nor does Brady entitle a defendant to know everything unearthed by the government's investigation. United State v. Arroyo-Angulo, 580 F.2d 1137 (2nd Cir. 1978).

Before addresssing Rogers' various subclaims as to what he alleges is a *Brady* claim, and given his allegorical Statement of the Case based upon hearsay reports, the State would briefly place things in their proper context. First, there is nothing that Rogers presented below or now, on appeal, other than the hearsay police reports of what two confidential informants allegedly said they overheard, that even remotely suggests that anyone other than Rogers was with McDermid at the St. Augustine Winn Dixie robbery

and committed the murder of David Eugene Smith. Second, Rogers' conjecture as to collateral crimes he alleges Cope committed with McDermid, does not exculpate Rogers for the murder of Mr. Smith. In short, there was no *Brady* material withheld by the State in this cause.

A. <u>Trial Court's Findings on Alleged Brady Materials</u>.

The trial court's findings regarding Brady were as follows:

As to claim (I), Defendant offers the "Cope documents," the "McDermid Impeachment documents," and various other documents. The "Cope documents" consist of a collection of police reports garnered from various law enforcement agencies, the second confession of McDermid, and a cassette tape of a witness interview between the State Attorney's Office and McDermid.

First, this Court simply cannot hold that the police reports of various and sundry jurisdictions, of possibly unrelated crimes, were in the State's "possession." Any police report wherein two men robbed a store, which coincides roughly in time, place, and manner with McDermid's confession, is not the State's responsibility to produce. See Perry v. State, 395 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1980). The materiality of these documents also concerned the Court does not consider Court. This these documents material. They represent mere а possibility that the defense might have been helped by this information, or might have affected the It seems as though the use of outcome of trial. the above documents, if admissible at all, would have cut both ways at trial. Id., at 174 citing U.S. v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 108, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 2399, 49 L.Ed.2d 342 (1976) at 2400, 2401.

Therefore, the first prong of Brady is not met.³¹

Second, the police reports were at all times available to Defendant. Defendant argues that the titled "second McDermid confession" first led him to the police reports presented at the hearing by including times and dates that were not included in McDermid's first confession. But, Defendant did have McDermid's first written confession, which lists the same thirty-five crimes that make up the second confession. Defendant, at all times, could have deposed McDermid to obtain the very information Defendant now claims he needed during trial. The record reflects Defendant never once deposed McDermid in preparation for trial. Reasonable diligence dictates the main witness against Defendant would be deposed by Defendant. Thus, the third prong of Brady is not met.

The second McDermid confession fails to meet the third prong of the *Brady* test in the same manner as the police reports. The Defendant could have derived the information contained therein by exercising reasonable diligence by deposing McDermid. The Defendant had statements of all other witnesses that would lead to inconsistencies in McDermid's statements. Defendant was free to explore any inconsistencies through and by a deposition of McDermid.

The cassette tape, also presented in the "Cope Documents," fails the third prong of *Brady* for the same reason. There is no information included in the tape that was not otherwise available to Defendant. Also, nothing in the tape leads this Court to conclude that another verdict would be forthcoming. The fourth prong of *Brady* has not been met.

When the possible effect of all other documents associated with this claim, the above-mentioned

³¹Earlier in its order, the trial court's first footnote related the four-step *Brady* analysis. (XVII/4069; Ex.D)

documents, and the record are viewed individually and collectively this Court is not compelled to find a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of Defendant's trial would have been different. Basically, the sum of the "maybe's" and "what-if's" is not greater than the sum of the jury's verdict and the propriety thereof. Relief on claim (I) is denied. (XVII/4869-70; Ex.D)

B. Inadmissibility of Rogers' Hearsay Materials.

Before proceeding to a *Brady* analysis, the State would note that Rogers failed to demonstrate how any of the materials he garnered from law enforcement would have been admissible at trial under Florida's rules of evidence, even if they had been disclosed. *See e.g.*, § 90.803(8)(r) Fla. Stat. (1996). Under crossexamination, Rogers' standby trial co-counsel, Ralph Elliott, testified that in light of said rule, none of the police reports would have been admissible (XX/T485). Additionally, there was no investigation as to the substance of any of the reports (XX/T485-86).

The trial court observed in its order denying Rogers' motion:

First, during the evidentiary hearing, the State objected strenuously to the introduction into evidence of the lion's share of documents presented by the Defendant. This Court marked all presented evidence and apportioned to them any weight this Court found appropriate during its deliberations. There is no ruling necessary on these evidentiary objections as the Court reviewed all Defense exhibits for whatever purpose they might have served Defendant. (XVII/4068; Ex.D)

The State's objection below is highly relevant before this Court, because if these documents could not have been admitted at trial or would be inadmissible at a retrial, "there is no reasonable probability the outcome of Rogers' trial would have been different if the evidence had been provided to the defense." Jones v. State, supra.

C. <u>Brady's First Prong, "Favorable Evidence</u>."

The trial court found:

It seems as though the use of the above documents, if admissible at all, would have cut both ways at trial. *Id.*, at 174 *citing U.S. v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97, 108, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 2399, 49 L.Ed.2d 342 (1976) at 2400, 2401. Therefore, **the first prong of Brady is not met**. (XVII/4069; Ex.D)

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